RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

06-20-2018

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1722-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROBERT BRIAN SPENCER,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From the Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, the Honorable Joseph Donald, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MICHELLE L. VELASQUEZ State Bar No. 1079355

Civitas Law Group, Inc. 2224 W. Kilbourn Ave. Milwaukee, WI 53233 (414) 949-5266 ext. 2 E-mail michelle.velasquez@clgmke.org

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was the evidence at trial sufficient to support the jury's guilty verdict to the offense of possession with intent to distribute a controlled substance-heroin?

In a written decision and order, the circuit court answered: Yes.

2. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to investigate, call witnesses, and impeach an officer?

In an oral ruling following postconviction hearings, the circuit court answered: No.

3. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to file a pretrial motion to suppress the evidence?

In a written decision and order, the circuit court answered: No.

4. Was the failure of the state to disclose evidence of a disciplinary matter against Officer DeWitt for untruthfulness a *Brady* ¹ violation?

In a written decision and order, the circuit court answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The appellant anticipates that the parties' briefs will adequately address the issues presented. This case requires the application of well-established legal principles to the particular facts of the case. Neither oral argument nor publication is requested.

¹ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87, (1968).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Spencer was charged in a two-count complaint with possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance, heroin, 10-50 grams, second or subsequent offense, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1m)(d)3 and possession of a firearm by a felon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2)(a). (1:1).

Mr. Spencer entered a demand for a speedy trial. (5). The case proceeded to trial and the jury found Mr. Spencer guilty on both counts. (15:1-2). Mr. Spencer filed a notice of intent to seek postconviction relief. (22). A postconviction motion was filed on July 20, 2016 (45:1-43) and the circuit court ordered briefing. (47). After a response and reply brief were filed, the circuit court denied the postconviction motion, in part, and granted an evidentiary hearing. (62:1-8; App. 102-109).

Following hearings on February 24, 2017, March 8, 2017, June 9, 2017 and July 14, 2017, circuit court, in an oral ruling, denied Mr. Spencer's postconviction motion for a new trial based on ineffective assistance of counsel. (92:33-36; App110-113). The circuit court signed the order on denying relief on July 27, 2017. (72:1; App. 101). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The complaint in this matter is based upon evidence obtained during the execution of a No-Knock search warrant. The complaint alleged that on July 18, 2014, officers were dispatched to Mr. Spencer's residence to execute a search warrant. (1:1). Officer Jason DeWitt observed an "African-American hand" reach over the six-foot fence and discard a "Crown Royal bag" into the neighbor's yard. (1:1). The complaint further alleged that Mr. Spencer was standing by the fence where the bag had been discarded. (1:2). 40.11

grams of heroin was recovered from the bag and a handgun was recovered during the search of the home. (1:2).

During a Mirandized interview, Mr. Spencer admitted that he had purchased the gun three to four months prior. (1:2). Mr. Spencer's judgment of conviction for Milwaukee County Case Number 2004-CF-3260 was attached to the complaint. (1:3).

Search Warrant

A "no knock" warrant to search Mr. Spencer's home, including all storage areas and people on the premises for firearms and related objects such as ammunition, lock boxes, gun cases and firearm cleaning kits was authorized on July 16, 2014. (45:28; App. 115).

According to the affidavit, within the last five days prior to application for the warrant, a reliable confidential informant (CI) observed a black revolver at Mr. Spencer's residence. (45:30; App. 117). The CI described Mr. Spencer's appearance and identified him with a booking photo. (45:31; App. 118). The CI told officers that Mr. Spencer had tried to sell him a gun, which he described as a "Tre Five Seven," which was slang for a .357 caliber handgun. (45:31; App. 118).

The affidavit for the warrant also contained Mr. Spencer's criminal history, which included a 2004 case for possession with intent to deliver cocaine, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1m)(cm)1g; a 1996 charge for felon in possession of a firearm, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2) and a 1985 offense for receiving stolen property, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.34 (c).

The affiant requested permission to execute the search in a "no-knock" fashion, stating, "this is a firearms related warrant and there is a high probability of individuals inside of the residence being able to arm themselves with firearms." (45:33; App. 120).

$Pretrial^2$

At the final pretrial conference the court asked the state about whether any of the officers listed as witnesses had any convictions or adjudications. (82:3). The state represented that it did not recognize any of the officers that it intended to call as "bad cops" but that that it would double check their backgrounds. (82:3). The court stated it was uncomfortable "going on an assumption that police officers don't have adjudications or convictions," and told the state to be prepared to tell the court about any convictions or adjudications and the nature of those, if any, on the day of trial. (82:4).

Trial

On the day of trial the case was moved to Branch 2, the Honorable Joseph Donald presiding, due to the unavailability of the Honorable Judge Carolina Stark, Branch 32. Mr. Spencer declined to file a substitution of judge and chose to proceed to trial. (83: 4-5). Neither the state nor defense counsel discussed the issue of "bad cops" that the Judge Stark ordered the state to check and report back on the day of trial.

The following are summaries of witness testimony.

Joel Susler

Officer Susler testified that he was on containment in the front of the house on the south side of the residence, and that Ryan DeWitt, Jason DeWitt, and Officer McElroy were on containment on the north side of the house in the front. (83:84). Officer Susler did not participate in the search

² This case was before the Honorable Carolina Stark, Branch 32, during the pretrial proceedings.

because it was his search warrant, and therefore he was in charge of the execution of it. (83: 87).

Christopher McBride

Officer McBride was involved in the execution of the search warrant at Mr. Spencer's address on North 13th St. on July 18, 2014. (83:99-100). It took place at about 4:00 p.m. (83:99-100). His assignment was "rear containment" and he approached from the north going southbound in the alley. (83:101). Officer McBride described seeing three individuals on the parking slab in the alley as he approached, and that there was a four-foot fence between the slab and the alley. (83:101).

Initially he observed a woman holding a baby standing in the middle of the yard, and then he saw a black male in a sleeveless shirt coming from the north side of the yard into his view. (83:102). He estimated that approximately 30 seconds had passed from the time the warrant was initiated and the time he observed Mr. Spencer. (83:104). According to the officer, there was a shed on the north side of the yard, a dog kennel that abutted the shed, a tree, and an additional kennel abutting the rear fence. (83:104). He testified he did not observe anyone else in the area where he observed Mr. Spencer. (83:105).

By the time the flash bang went off Officer McBride was already at the house. (83:106). Officer McBride indicated that he was not focused on contraband, but on the people on the slab, and therefore did not see anything flying through the air as he approached the house from the north. (83:109). The door from the house to the yard was not visible to him until he actually reached the yard. (83:109).

Matthew Mengel

Officer Mengel also assisted in executing the search warrant. (83:115). He was Officer McBride's partner and also assigned to rear containment. (83:116). He testified that he and his partner parked two to three houses north of the address, ran eastbound to the alley and then southbound to the rear of the target house. (83:117). He recalled seeing three males and one female in the parking area. (83:117). He also recalled observing two children, an adult male, and an adult female in the yard. (83:118). Officer Mengel indicated that he reached backyard first, and that while he was in the yard, Officer McBride secured the people in the parking area. (83:118).

According to Officer Mengel, Officer McBride was running a few feet in front of him, and on cross examination indicated that it was 10 feet in front of him. (83:118,122). When he approached the yard, he saw Mr. Spencer was standing still, just to the right of the walkway that lead from the house to the gate. (83:120). Officer Mengel testified that because of an outdoor toilet and larger vehicles parked, he was not able to see into the yard until he was immediately in the rear of the house. (83:12).

Due to the chaos, Officer Mengel could not say when the percussion grenade went off, but believed that they were just approaching the rear parking area when it went off. (83:123). At that point, Officer McBride was containing the people on the parking slab. (83:123). Officer Mengel testified that he was aware that the bag of heroin was found in the yard north of the fence, which is the direction he was coming from, but that he did not observe anything flying through the air. (83:124).

Jason DeWitt

On direct examination, Officer DeWitt testified that he was positioned on the northwest side of the home in the front yard, and that part of his duty was to make sure that no one fled or threw evidence out of the house. (84:4-5). He could see the front of the house and the north side of the house all the way down the fence line. (84: 5-6). He testified that after the tactical unit entered the home, he observed a hand reach up above the wooden fence and throw a purple-colored object into the backyard of the house to the north. (84:6). He indicated that he searched the bedroom where the gun was located and the shed, where he found four balloons, aluminum foil and sandwich baggies, as well as ammunition. (84:11-13). The heroin was located in a Crown Royal bag located in the neighbor's yard and was packaged inside two sandwich bags along with two scales. (84:21).

Officer DeWitt interviewed Mr. Spencer and Beatrice Young. (84:26). During the interview at District 3, Mr. Spencer stated that the firearm belonged to him. (84: 27).

On cross-examination, Officer DeWitt recalled that he was on the grass in the front yard when the tactical unit made entry, and he did not recall any other officer standing next to him. (84:32-33). While the tactical unit went into the home he remained positioned and saw the hand make a throwing motion over the 6-foot fence. (84:33). He saw a little part of the forearm and no tattoos. (84:34).

Officer DeWitt testified that he believed the officers on the rear containment also saw the hand, and that he observed it approximately five to ten seconds after the flash bang went off. (84:34). The bag that was thrown landed on a table in the neighbor's yard, approximately 15-20 feet from the fence. (84:34). Officer DeWitt estimated that the bag landed consistent with what he saw, and that he saw the hand in the middle of the fence between the house and the parking slab. (84:35).

Defense counsel showed Officer DeWitt Exhibits 23 and 24. (84:36). Exhibit 23 showed the backyard along the northern side of the fence, where there was a tree and two dog kennels. (84:36.). Exhibit 24 depicted the backyard of the house to the north where the bag was found. (84:36). Officer DeWitt testified that his view of the hand throwing the bag was unobstructed and that the leaves and branches from the tree did not in any way hinder his view. (84:38). He was positioned about 20-30 feet away. (85:5).

Matthew VanDrisse

Officer VanDrisse was on front containment in the southwest corner of the home, and therefore could not see into the backyard. (85:11). He inventoried items, including two digital scales. (85:13). One of the scales was located in the southeast corner of the backyard. (85:15).

Ryan McElroy

Officer McElroy was positioned on front containment on the north side of the residence. (85:21). Officer McElroy testified that he could see the north side of the house, including the fence and that he saw a hand "discard an object" over the fence. (85:21). He stated that it was at most a few seconds from the time the object was thrown and the unit made entry. (85:22). He indicated that the hand he observed was in the middle of the fence and that it made a throwing motion. (85:22-23). Officer McElroy testified that he immediately went to recover the bag, which had landed under the table. (85: 24).

Ryan DeWitt

Officer Ryan DeWitt was on front containment on the south side of the residence and did not observe anything in relation to the bag being thrown. (85: 35). He testified that he stayed on containment until everything was cleared and then went and "checked out the big bag of heroin that got tossed."

(85:35). Officer Ryan DeWitt observed the bag being photographed. (85:37). He stated that he did not observe anything of significance in the basement in relation to the firearm or controlled substances. (85:38-39). He testified that scales were recovered on the southeast fence line by the parking slab. (85: 40).

Tameka Rash

Ms. Rash testified for the defense. She was Mr. Spencer's live-in girlfriend at the time the warrant was executed. (86:59). She indicated that on the day of the warrant she was outside with Kenneth Wooten, Jerry Little and man named Al, and a woman named Mia. (86:61). When she heard a "boom," she thought that someone was shooting, at which point she ran into the house. (86:61). At the time she ran in, Mr. Wooten was in the alley working on cars, and Al, a neighbor who had stopped by, was in the yard. (86:61). Jerry, also a neighbor, had stopped over, and was working on cars when the loud bang occurred. (86:62). Ms. Rash testified that Kenneth Wooten frequently used their parking slab to work on cars, and that it was not uncommon to for Al and Jerry to stop by. (86:62-63).

Ms. Rash indicated that when she heard the "boom," Mr. Spencer was in the bathroom in the house and that she was aware he was in the restroom because her children told her. (86:63). When the police told Ms. Rash that they were looking for a gun, she told them where it was. (86:64).

Ms. Rash testified that as she was running into the home Mr. Spencer was running out of the home and that he was not carrying anything. (86:64-65). Ms. Rash indicated that the shed was open and unlocked the day the warrant was executed, but that it is locked when they are not using it. (86:66). Ms. Rash told the police the gun was hers. (86:66).

In relation to her observations of the yard, Ms. Rash testified that she did not see anyone in the yard move after the

bang went off because she immediately ran into the house because of the kids, including her infant in her bouncer. (86:67). She did not see or hear any officers approaching when she heard the bang. (86:68). Ms. Rash testified that the gun was there for protection and that she had asked Mr. Spencer to take it out of the house. (86:71-72).

Ms. Rash denied making any statement regarding telling Mr. Spencer to stop "messing with that stuff." (86:72). She indicated that Mr. Spencer had used in the past but that she told police that they did not have to have drugs around because they make enough money to provide for their kids. (86:73). Ms. Rash clarified that she told officers that Mr. Spencer had done drugs in the past and that the officer responded by saying that "Robert doesn't listen to you, does he?" Ms. Rash again denied saying that she told Mr. Spencer to "stop messing with that stuff." (86:75-76).

Robert Spencer

Mr. Spencer testified that prior to flash bang, he was sitting on the deck in the yard with Tameka Rash, his daughter Beatrice, and "Big Man" who he identified as Albert. (86:80-81). According to Mr. Spencer, Kenneth and Jerry were on the parking slab working on cars. (86:81). Mr. Spencer said that all of the guys present that day came by every now and then to grill and hang out, and that there were visitors every other day. (86:81).

Mr. Spencer testified that the shed was open that day because he was planning to barbeque, and that anyone in the yard had access to it. (86:84). Mr. Spencer testified that he was in the bathroom when he heard the "boom" from the percussion grenade, and that until he heard them shouting "police" he believed someone was shooting the house. (86: 86). Mr. Spencer testified that he went out the back when he heard police yelling at his daughter to get on the ground and she had a baby in her arms. (86:87). Mr. Spencer denied have any object, including a purple bag, in his hands. (86:87).

Mr. Spencer indicated that prior to the flashbang, Albert and his daughter were in the yard with him, but that when he went outside after hearing the bang, Albert was no longer inside the yard. (86:88). He stated that the scales that were found in plastic bags were located by where the vehicles were parked in the alley. (86:87)

Mr. Spencer testified that he swore at officers because he felt they were being rough with his daughter. (86:89-91). The detective let his daughter sit and Mr. Spencer then got on the ground. (86:89-91). The detective told him that the "dope" was his as they had a search warrant for his house. (86:91). Mr. Spencer testified that he has a sleeve of tattoos with his kids initials and family tree and that he is 5'7" tall. (86:92) Mr. Spencer indicated that the Crown Royal bags found in the shed had bottles in them, as did the ones in the basement. (86:92). Mr. Spencer testified that bags and balloons were for the kids. (86:93). There was approximately \$600-\$700 located in the home, which Mr. Spencer testified were for payment of bills. (86:93).

On cross-examination, Mr. Spencer testified that when the bang went off he started to go and look for his gun, until he heard that it was police, at which time he went out to the yard. (86:96). Mr. Spencer stated that he told officers the gun was his as they had threatened to arrest his wife and call child protective services. (86:95). Mr. Spencer confirmed during cross-examination that at the time he ran out to the yard, Albert was outside the four-foot fence. (86:98).

After Mr. Spencer's testimony, trial counsel was unsure if Mr. Spencer's daughter was present, and so the court gave him time to check on additional witnesses. (86:101). After discussion about verdict forms, defense counsel told the court it would not present any additional witnesses. (86:103).

Rebuttal witness

The state called Officer Susler as a rebuttal witness. (86:104).Officer Susler testified about his conversation with Tameka Rash regarding the firearm. (86:105). He also testified that Ms. Rash told stated that there was no need for money from drug sales. (86:106). Officer Susler indicated that Mr. Rash was crying uncontrollably and that when she made the statement, she was barley speaking. (86:106). Officer Susler denied that he or any officer questioned Ms. Rash about who the drugs belonged to and whether Mr. Spencer was engaged in drug dealing. (86:106-107).

Jury Verdict

After deliberation, the jury convicted Mr. Spencer of both counts as charged. (86:152).

Sentencing

The circuit court sentenced Mr. Spencer to fifteen years of imprisonment on count one, possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance-heroin, divided into ten years of confinement followed by five years of supervision. (87:38). On count two, felon in possession of a firearm, the circuit court sentenced Mr. Spencer to five years of imprisonment; divided into two years of confinement, followed by three years of supervision. (87:38). The circuit court ordered the sentences to run concurrent to one another. (87:38).

Postconviction Proceedings

Mr. Spencer filed a postconviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel, a *Brady* violation, and challenging the sufficiency of the evidence. (45:1-43). Following additional briefing, the circuit court issued a written decision and order denying relief on the basis of failure to file a suppression motion, the alleged *Brady*

violation, and the sufficiency claim. (62:1-8; App. 102-109). The details of the court's decision will be discussed below.

The circuit court did, however, order a *Machner*³ hearing in relation to Mr. Spencer's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to publish an exhibit to the jury and failing to investigate and call additional witnesses. (62:8; App. 109).

Trial counsel's testimony

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