RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-22-2018

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1722-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROBERT BRIAN SPENCER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH DONALD, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Finally, as trial counsel sensibly explained to the jury, had they testified at trial, these three men were not about to get on the witness stand and admit under oath to either owning the heroin or throwing it over the fence. (R. 86:143.) Spencer failed to prove a reasonable probability of a different verdict had Medley, Wooten or Little testified at trial.

2. Counsel's decision not to call Beatrice Young

Spencer failed to prove deficient performance in counsel's decision not to call Beatrice Young as a defense witness. Young would have confirmed the police testimony that she was in the yard with her baby along with Spencer around the time of the flash-bomb blast, and that Spencer

was again with her in the yard shortly after the blast (R. 45:40–41; 51:18–19; 92:7–8, 11–12.) Young said in her statement to police that she and Spencer were the only adults in the yard at the time of the blast. (R. 45:40; 51:18–19.) This would not have helped the defense.

Even if the jury were to believe Young that Spencer went inside the house shortly before the blast and came back out seconds after the blast, it could also have reasonably found that Spencer had sufficient time after running back outside to go to his unlocked shed, grab the bag of heroin, and throw it over the fence while containment officers were still getting situated in this rapidly-developing scenario. Spencer acted quickly enough so that, though police officers were surrounding the house, they were only in position to see an unidentified person's hand throwing the bag over the fence. Spencer failed to prove a reasonable probability of a different verdict had counsel called Spencer's obviously biased daughter to present such shaky testimony.

C. Spencer failed to prove deficient performance and prejudice arising out of counsel's alleged failure to adequately challenge Officer DeWitt's ability to observe.

Office Jason DeWitt was shown photographs of the yard on direct and testified that they accurately depicted how the yard appeared on July 18, 2014, when he saw a hand throwing the Crown Royal bag over the fence. (R. 84:8–9.) Counsel for Spencer cross-examined DeWitt about his ability to observe the hand throwing the bag over the six-foot fence given the presence of a tree. (R. 84:32–40; 85:4–7.) His attack was based on photographs of the scene counsel showed to DeWitt depicting a mature tree near the north fence. (R. 84:36–39.) Spencer complains that counsel should have done more to show that the tree would have obstructed DeWitt's view. DeWitt, however, insisted that he was able to

see the hand despite the tree and any other obstructions. (R. 84:39.)

Attorney Peirce had no reason to doubt DeWitt's ability to observe the hand given that another police officer positioned on the other end of the fence, McElroy, saw the same hand throw the same bag over the same fence. Unlike DeWitt, McElroy immediately ran into the neighbor's yard and retrieved the bag of heroin he had just seconds earlier seen being thrown over the fence. (R. 85:21–24.) Spencer does not challenge counsel's performance with regard to McElroy's ability to observe.

Given the strength of McElroy's corroborating testimony and the undeniable fact that the heroin somehow ended up in the neighbor's yard (presumably the bag did not sprout wings and fly over the fence on its own), Spencer failed to prove deficient performance and prejudice in how counsel chose to cross-examine Officer DeWitt about his ability to observe the bag being tossed over the fence.

Spencer also argues that trial counsel should have shown the photographs to the jury that he showed to DeWitt when he cross-examined DeWitt about his ability to observe the hand. (Spencer's Br. 23–24.) Spencer bases that argument on the photographs taken by his investigator some time in 2015. He goes so far as to falsely argue the trial court made the factual finding that the photographs, "demonstrate that the officers could not have seen the bag being thrown over the fence." (Spencer's Br. 24.) The trial court found the exact opposite: "Further, the court has reviewed Exhibits 23" and 24 in conjunction with the pictures attached to the defendant's motion, and it is not persuaded that these photographs demonstrate that officers could not have seen a hand throwing a bright purple bag over the six foot fence." The (R. 62:8,A-App. 109.) photographs taken contemporaneously by police, introduced into evidence at trial, and shown to DeWitt were not of the same dismal

quality as those provided by the defense investigator. (*Compare* R. 12:1; 13:11; 13:12, and 13:16 *with* 45:37–39.)

Any photographs would have been of little assistance to the jury in assessing DeWitt's credibility, especially those taken by the defense investigator. Spencer does not explain why, even with a mature tree near the fence as depicted in the photographs introduced by the State, Officers DeWitt and McElroy could not possibly have seen a hand throwing the purple bag over the fence.

D. Trial counsel was not ineffective for deciding against filing a meritless suppression motion.

As the trial court ruled on postconviction review, a suppression motion challenging the basis for issuing a "no knock" warrant would have been denied. This is because (a) the warrant was likely valid or, if not, (b) the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule would have applied. (R. 62:3–5, A-App. 104–06.)

The issuing judge may draw reasonable inferences from the facts asserted in the affidavit. The inferences drawn need not be the only reasonable ones. The issue is whether the inferences drawn by the issuing judge were reasonable. *E.g.*, *State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 30, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517; *State v. Jones*, 2002 WI App 196, ¶ 10, 257 Wis. 2d 319, 651 N.W.2d 305.

Reviewing courts are to give "great deference" to the issuing judge's probable cause determination; it must stand unless the defendant proves that the facts were "clearly insufficient" to support the probable cause finding. *State v. Marquardt*, 2005 WI 157, ¶ 23, 286 Wis. 2d 204, 705 N.W.2d 878 (citing *State v. Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 989, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991)). The issuing judge's decision must stand if there is a substantial basis for it. This deferential standard of review is in line with the "Fourth Amendment's strong

preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant." State v. Schaefer, 2003 WI App 164, ¶ 4, 266 Wis. 2d 719, 668 N.W.2d 760. See Ward, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶¶ 21–24; State v. Lindgren, 2004 WI App 159, ¶¶ 15–16, 19–20, 275 Wis. 2d 851, 687 N.W.2d 60.

When giving deferential review in the close case, the reviewing court should resolve all doubts in favor of the issuing judge's probable cause determination. *Lindgren*, 275 Wis. 2d 851, ¶ 20. Also, because warrant applications "[A]re normally drafted by non-lawyers in the midst and haste of a criminal investigation. . . . [t]echnical requirements of elaborate specificity . . . have no proper place in this area." *Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d at 991–92 (citation omitted). *See Ward*, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 32. There must be a sufficient factual basis under the particular circumstances for the judge to authorize entry without knocking and announcing. *See State v. Eason*, 2001 WI 98, ¶ 18, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625 (citing *Richards v. Wisconsin*, 520 U.S. 385, 394 (1997)). This warrant application satisfied those minimal standards.

The warrant application alleged sufficient facts to show there was probable cause to believe that Spencer, a convicted felon, had recently sold a firearm to a confidential informant. Police asked for "no knock" authorization given that firearms were involved. These factual allegations were sufficient to cause the reviewing judge to issue both the warrant and authorization for police to enter the house without knocking and announcing because there were sufficient facts alleged to cause him to believe that firearms were present and might be used against them if police knocked and announced their presence. (R. 45:30–33, A-App. 115–20.)

If, in hindsight the warrant was overly broad, suppression was not justified because the officers executing the warrant reasonably relied in objective good faith on the

neutral and detached judge's decision to issue the warrant and authorize a "no knock" entry. *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 913 (1984); Marquardt, 286 Wis. 2d 204, ¶¶ 24–26; Eason, 245 Wis. 2d 206, ¶ 63.

The officers who executed the search, "cannot be expected to question the magistrate's probable-cause determination or his judgment that the form of the warrant is technically sufficient." *Leon*, 468 U.S. at 921. The warrant application was presented to the judge only after it set forth probable cause for the search based on a significant police investigation, and after it was independently reviewed and approved by a Milwaukee County Assistant District Attorney. *Marquardt*, 286 Wis. 2d 204, ¶¶ 44–47; *Eason*, 245 Wis. 2d 206, ¶ 63. (R. 45:33, A-App. 120.) Because police reasonably relied on the judicially-issued "no knock" warrant in objective good faith, the exclusionary rule does not come into play and the evidence seized was properly held admissible.

In sum, Spencer failed to prove deficient performance and prejudice because counsel was not ineffective for deciding against bringing a meritless suppression motion. *Berggren*, 320 Wis. 2d 209, ¶ 21.

E. The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it denied Spencer's request for a postconviction suppression hearing.

Spencer complains that the trial court should have ordered a suppression hearing on postconviction review even though Spencer did not move for one pretrial. This argument is meritless for the following reasons: Spencer's postconviction counsel had every opportunity to ask trial counsel at the *Machner* hearing why he did not file a suppression motion, but failed to do so. The law presumes, therefore, that trial counsel decided against a suppression

motion for sound strategic reasons. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690; *Maloney*, 281 Wis. 2d 595, ¶ 43. It is likely that trial counsel recognized the motion would have failed because he anticipated that the trial court would either uphold the warrant as valid, or rule that, even if invalid, the good faith exception applies and the evidence would remain admissible.

The trial court, in its discretion, may summarily deny a postconviction motion without an evidentiary hearing if the motion fails to allege sufficient facts, presents only conclusory allegations, or the record conclusively shows that the movant is not entitled to relief. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶¶ 50, 56–59, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334; *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 309–11, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996); *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497–98, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972).

The trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying Spencer's request for the suppression hearing on postconviction review that Spencer did not request pretrial. He failed to prove the suppression motion had merit, especially given the "good faith" exception. (R. 62:3–5, A-App. 104–06.) For the reasons set forth immediately above, the record conclusively shows that Spencer is not entitled to relief because the suppression motion would have rightly failed. There was no need for a postconviction suppression hearing.

III. Spencer failed to prove that the prosecution breached its duty to disclose material exculpatory evidence regarding Officer DeWitt.

A. The law applicable to a prosecutor's duty to disclose exculpatory evidence

Under the Fourteenth Amendment, "suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." *Brady*, 373 U.S. at 87. *See State v. Nerison*, 136 Wis. 2d 37, 54, 401 N.W.2d 1 (1987). The *Brady* rule is codified in the Wisconsin discovery statute, Wis. Stat. § 971.23(1)(h).

To establish a *Brady* violation, the defendant must make three showings: (1) the State "suppressed" the evidence in question from the trial; (2) the evidence in question was "favorable" to the defendant; and (3) the evidence was "material" to the determination of the defendant's guilt or punishment. *Brady*, 373 U.S. at 87; *Socha v. Richardson*, 874 F.3d 983, 987 (7th Cir. 2017).

With respect to the "suppression" element, due process "requires production of [exculpatory] information which is within the exclusive possession of state authorities." State v. Sarinske, 91 Wis. 2d 14, 36, 280 N.W.2d 725 (1979). With respect to whether the evidence in question is "favorable" to the defense, the *Brady* rule extends to evidence that may be used to impeach the credibility of a prosecution witness. Nerison, 136 Wis. 2d at 54–56; Socha, 874 F.3d at 988. Finally, evidence is "material" and, therefore, must be disclosed, "only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 'reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." State v. Garrity, 161 Wis. 2d 842, 850, 469 N.W.2d 219 (Ct. App. 1991) (quoting *United States* v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985)). See Banks v. Dretke, 540 U.S. 668, 698, 702–03 (2004); Socha, 874 F.3d at 989 (same). The mere possibility that the evidence might have helped the defense does not meet the materiality standard. State v. Harris, 2004 WI 64, \P 16, 272 Wis. 2d 80, 680 N.W.2d 737.

The harmless error rule also applies to proven *Brady* violations. *See United States v. Agurs*, 427 U.S. 97, 103

(1976) (the harmless error rule applies even in situations where the undisclosed evidence showed that the prosecutor knew or should have known that his case included perjured testimony).

B. Spencer failed to prove that the disciplinary action involving Office DeWitt in an unrelated matter that occurred five years before trial was material.

Officer Jason DeWitt was disciplined in 2009 for "failure to be attentive and zealous in the discharge of his duties" in an unrelated matter. (R. 45:36.) The trial court correctly held that there is no reasonable probability of a different verdict had defense counsel impeached DeWitt with this information. (R. 62:6, A-App. 107.)

The 2009 disciplinary action against DeWitt in an unrelated 2008 incident does nothing to discredit the more important corroborative testimony of Officer McElroy, who not only also saw a hand throwing a purple bag over the fence, but he then immediately retrieved the bag from underneath a patio table in the neighbor's yard where it was thrown. Spencer seems to imply that DeWitt made up his testimony because he was dishonest five years earlier, but he does not argue that McElroy also made up his completely corroborative testimony. Officers Mengel and McBride also testified that Spencer was the only adult male they saw in the yard as they approached. (R. 83:104–07, 114–15, 121–22, 127, 129.)

Someone threw the bag over the fence. DeWitt could not identify who that was. Neither could McElroy. Their testimony did not undermine the defense theory that one of the other three men in or near the yard threw the bag over the fence, and Spencer ran out of the house in response to the blast only after the bag had been thrown. Spencer failed to prove a reasonable probability of a different result had

DeWitt admitted on cross-examination that he was disciplined for not being "attentive and zealous in the discharge of his duties" on an unrelated matter five years earlier.

It follows that any error was harmless even if the disciplinary action against DeWitt was exculpatory and should have been turned over to the defense before trial. Spencer did not dispute at trial that someone in the yard threw the bag over the fence or that the heroin inside of it was possessed by someone with the intent to deliver. The only issue was whether Spencer threw the bag.

DeWitt did not testify that Spencer threw it. He was unable to identify who threw the bag. Impeaching DeWitt's credibility with proof that he was found to have been dishonest in an unrelated matter five years before trial would have had no conceivable impact on the jury's assessment of the credibility of his testimony, fully corroborated by McElroy, on the undisputed point that some unidentified person threw the bag over the fence. Beyond a reasonable doubt, any potential *Brady* violation was harmless. *State v. Lettice*, 205 Wis. 2d 347, 352, 556 N.W.2d 376 (Ct. App. 1996). *See generally State v. Harvey*, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 44, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief.